
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

  NO. 2 PORTUGUESE BEND ROAD
ROLLING HILLS, CA 90274

(310) 377-1521
FAX (310) 377-7288

   
AGENDA
Regular Planning Commission
Meeting

PLANNING COMMISSION
Tuesday, December 07, 2021

CITY OF ROLLING HILLS
6:30 PM

 
SUPPLEMENTAL AGENDA

 
Executive Order N-29-20

The Planning Commission makes the following findings pursuant to AB 361:

1. A statewide state of emergency is currently in place; and

2. State or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing in
connection with COVID-19.

All Planning Commissioners will participate by teleconference. Public Participation: City Hall will be
closed to the public until further notice.

A live audio of the Planning Commission meeting will be available on the City's website

https://www.rolling-hills.org/PC%20Meeting%20Zoom%20Link.pdf

The meeting agenda is also available on the City's website

https://www.rolling-hills.org/government/agenda/index.php

Join Zoom Meeting via:

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/99343882035?pwd=MWZXaG9ISWdud3NpajYwY3dF bllFZz09

Meeting ID: 993 4388 2035 Passcode: 647943

Members of the public may submit comments in real time by emailing the Planning Department at
Planning@cityofrh.net. Your comments will become a part of the official meeting record. You must

provide your full name but do not provide any other personal information (i.e., phone numbers,
addresses, etc) that you do not want to be published.

 

  

1



2. ROLL CALL

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON MINUTES AND ANY ITEM NOT ON THE AGENDA

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

6. CONSENT CALENDAR

6.A. CONTINUATION OF REMOTE CITY COUNCIL AND COMMISSION MEETINGS
DURING THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2021 PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS
OF AB 361
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

6.B. COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS MINUTES FOR NOVEMBER 30, 2021
RECOMMENDATION: Receive and file.

7. EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

8. RESOLUTIONS

8.A. COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS RESOLUTION NO. 2021-21-CTV
RECOMMENDATION: Approve as presented.

9. PUBLIC HEARINGS ON ITEMS CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

10. NEW PUBLIC HEARINGS

10.A. SB 9 URGENCY ORDINANCE
RECOMMENDATION: Review, discuss, and recommend adoption of an urgency
ordinance to the City Council.

11. NEW BUSINESS

12. OLD BUSINESS

13. SCHEDULE FIELD TRIPS

14. ITEMS FROM STAFF

15. ITEMS FROM THE PLANNING COMMISSION

  

  

  

  

  

 7-AB-361 teleconferences_ final (the actual bill).pdf
 

 2021-11-30 CTV Minutes.pdf
 

  

  

 Resolution No. 2021-21-CTV.pdf
 

  

  

 RH PC Resolution No. SB 9-c1.DOCX
2021-11-30 RHCA Comments.pdf
SB-9_Letter_to_RH_City_11-24-21.pdf
Supplemental Exhibit A - SB9 Code Amendments_12.07.21.DOCX

 

  

  

  

  

  

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/ed06f25e311dd0b133397a12ecb45ed80.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1160799/7-AB-361__teleconferences__final__the_actual_bill_.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/fdd6c2fe22d67a104d8487b6ae10a67d0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1162801/2021-11-30_CTV_Minutes.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/d895b9538c2e5b01a72b9befa807676e0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163215/Resolution_No._2021-21-CTV.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rollinghills/b801b0f226d34612d7b481dbd7948ee10.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1162164/RH_PC_Resolution_No._SB_9-c1.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163320/2021-11-30_RHCA_Comments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163905/SB-9_Letter_to_RH_City_11-24-21.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1168649/Exhibit_A_-_SB9_Code_Amendments_12.07.21.pdf


16. ADJOURNMENT
Next meeting: Thursday, December 16, 2021 at 8:00 a.m. virtually via Zoom.

  
Notice:

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting
due to your disability, please contact the City Clerk at (310) 377-1521 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting to enable the
City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility and accommodation for your review of this agenda and
attendance at this meeting.

Documents pertaining to an agenda item received after the posting of the agenda are available for review in the City
Clerk's office or at the meeting at which the item will be considered.

All of the above resolutions and zoning case items have been determined to be categorically exempt pursuant to the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines unless otherwise stated.

3



Agenda Item No.: 6.A 
Mtg. Date: 12/07/2021

TO: HONORABLE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING
COMMISSION

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: CONTINUATION OF REMOTE CITY COUNCIL AND COMMISSION
MEETINGS DURING THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2021 PURSUANT
TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF AB 361

DATE: December 07, 2021

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:

With the Governor’s approval of AB 361, public agencies have been granted the continuing ability
to conduct virtual meetings during declared public health emergencies under specified
circumstances until January 1, 2024. Based on the requirements of AB 361 (copy attached), in order for
the City to hold virtual meetings, the Committee on Trees and Views  needs to determine monthly that
the following conditions exist:

1) There continues to be a health and safety risk due to COVID-19 as a proclaimed state of emergency
with recommended measures to promote social  distancing; and

2) Meeting in person during the proclaimed state of emergency would present imminent risks to the
health and safety of attendees.
 

The other requirements associated with continued virtual meetings are outlined in the text of AB
361. The recommended action is for the Committee on Trees and Views to find that the following
conditions exist and that they necessitate remote Committee meetings for the coming month:

1) There continues to be a health and safety risk due to COVID-19 as a proclaimed state of emergency
with recommended measures to promote social distancing; and

2) Meeting in person during the proclaimed state of emergency would present imminent risks to the
health and safety of attendees. These findings will need to be made by the City Council each month that
the City opts to continue with remote meetings.

4



 
DISCUSSION:
None.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
7-AB-361 teleconferences_ final (the actual bill).pdf

5

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1160799/7-AB-361__teleconferences__final__the_actual_bill_.pdf


SHARE THIS: Date Published: 09/17/2021 09:00 PM

AB-361 Open meetings: state and local agencies: teleconferences. (2021-2022)

 

Assembly Bill No. 361

CHAPTER 165

An act to add and repeal Section 89305.6 of the Education Code, and to amend, repeal, and add Section
54953 of, and to add and repeal Section 11133 of, the Government Code, relating to open meetings,

and declaring the urgency thereof, to take effect immediately.

[ Approved by Governor  September 16, 2021. Filed with Secretary of State
 September 16, 2021. ]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 361, Robert Rivas. Open meetings: state and local agencies: teleconferences.

(1) Existing law, the Ralph M. Brown Act requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative
body of a local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public and that all persons be permitted to
attend and participate. The act contains specified provisions regarding the timelines for posting an agenda and
providing for the ability of the public to directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the public.
The act generally requires all regular and special meetings of the legislative body be held within the boundaries
of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, subject to certain exceptions. The act allows
for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject to certain requirements, particularly that the legislative body
notice each teleconference location of each member that will be participating in the public meeting, that each
teleconference location be accessible to the public, that members of the public be allowed to address the
legislative body at each teleconference location, that the legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference
location, and that at least a quorum of the legislative body participate from locations within the boundaries of the
local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an exemption to the jurisdictional requirement for health authorities,
as defined. The act authorizes the district attorney or any interested person, subject to certain provisions, to
commence an action by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that
specified actions taken by a legislative body are null and void.

Existing law, the California Emergency Services Act, authorizes the Governor, or the Director of Emergency
Services when the governor is inaccessible, to proclaim a state of emergency under specified circumstances.

Executive Order No. N-29-20 suspends the Ralph M. Brown Act’s requirements for teleconferencing during the
COVID-19 pandemic provided that notice and accessibility requirements are met, the public members are
allowed to observe and address the legislative body at the meeting, and that a legislative body of a local agency
has a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with
disabilities, as specified.

This bill, until January 1, 2024, would authorize a local agency to use teleconferencing without complying with
the teleconferencing requirements imposed by the Ralph M. Brown Act when a legislative body of a local agency
holds a meeting during a declared state of emergency, as that term is defined, when state or local health officials

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

6

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=202120220AB361&t=20212022AB-361&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20212022AB-361%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB361&


have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, during a proclaimed state of emergency
held for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether meeting in person would present imminent risks
to the health or safety of attendees, and during a proclaimed state of emergency when the legislative body has
determined that meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees, as
provided.

This bill would require legislative bodies that hold teleconferenced meetings under these abbreviated
teleconferencing procedures to give notice of the meeting and post agendas, as described, to allow members of
the public to access the meeting and address the legislative body, to give notice of the means by which members
of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment, including an opportunity for all persons to
attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option, and to conduct the meeting in a manner that
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties and the public appearing before the legislative
body. The bill would require the legislative body to take no further action on agenda items when there is a
disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting the meeting, or in the event of a disruption within
the local agency’s control which prevents members of the public from offering public comments, until public
access is restored. The bill would specify that actions taken during the disruption are subject to challenge
proceedings, as specified.

This bill would prohibit the legislative body from requiring public comments to be submitted in advance of the
meeting and would specify that the legislative body must provide an opportunity for the public to address the
legislative body and offer comment in real time. The bill would prohibit the legislative body from closing the
public comment period and the opportunity to register to provide public comment, until the public comment
period has elapsed or until a reasonable amount of time has elapsed, as specified. When there is a continuing
state of emergency, or when state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social
distancing, the bill would require a legislative body to make specified findings not later than 30 days after the
first teleconferenced meeting pursuant to these provisions, and to make those findings every 30 days thereafter,
in order to continue to meet under these abbreviated teleconferencing procedures.

Existing law prohibits a legislative body from requiring, as a condition to attend a meeting, a person to register
the person’s name, or to provide other information, or to fulfill any condition precedent to the person’s
attendance.

This bill would exclude from that prohibition, a registration requirement imposed by a third-party internet
website or other online platform not under the control of the legislative body.

(2) Existing law, the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a
state body be open and public and all persons be permitted to attend any meeting of a state body. The act
requires at least one member of the state body to be physically present at the location specified in the notice of
the meeting.

The Governor’s Executive Order No. N-29-20 suspends the requirements of the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act
for teleconferencing during the COVID-19 pandemic, provided that notice and accessibility requirements are met,
the public members are allowed to observe and address the state body at the meeting, and that a state body has
a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with
disabilities, as specified.

This bill, until January 31, 2022, would authorize, subject to specified notice and accessibility requirements, a
state body to hold public meetings through teleconferencing and to make public meetings accessible
telephonically, or otherwise electronically, to all members of the public seeking to observe and to address the
state body. With respect to a state body holding a public meeting pursuant to these provisions, the bill would
suspend certain requirements of existing law, including the requirements that each teleconference location be
accessible to the public and that members of the public be able to address the state body at each teleconference
location. Under the bill, a state body that holds a meeting through teleconferencing and allows members of the
public to observe and address the meeting telephonically or otherwise electronically would satisfy any
requirement that the state body allow members of the public to attend the meeting and offer public comment.
The bill would require that each state body that holds a meeting through teleconferencing provide notice of the
meeting, and post the agenda, as provided. The bill would urge state bodies utilizing these teleconferencing
procedures in the bill to use sound discretion and to make reasonable efforts to adhere as closely as reasonably
possible to existing law, as provided.

(3) Existing law establishes the various campuses of the California State University under the administration of
the Trustees of the California State University, and authorizes the establishment of student body organizations in

7



connection with the operations of California State University campuses.

The Gloria Romero Open Meetings Act of 2000 generally requires a legislative body, as defined, of a student body
organization to conduct its business in a meeting that is open and public. The act authorizes the legislative body
to use teleconferencing, as defined, for the benefit of the public and the legislative body in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law.

This bill, until January 31, 2022, would authorize, subject to specified notice and accessibility requirements, a
legislative body, as defined for purposes of the act, to hold public meetings through teleconferencing and to
make public meetings accessible telephonically, or otherwise electronically, to all members of the public seeking
to observe and to address the legislative body. With respect to a legislative body holding a public meeting
pursuant to these provisions, the bill would suspend certain requirements of existing law, including the
requirements that each teleconference location be accessible to the public and that members of the public be
able to address the legislative body at each teleconference location. Under the bill, a legislative body that holds a
meeting through teleconferencing and allows members of the public to observe and address the meeting
telephonically or otherwise electronically would satisfy any requirement that the legislative body allow members
of the public to attend the meeting and offer public comment. The bill would require that each legislative body
that holds a meeting through teleconferencing provide notice of the meeting, and post the agenda, as provided.
The bill would urge legislative bodies utilizing these teleconferencing procedures in the bill to use sound
discretion and to make reasonable efforts to adhere as closely as reasonably possible to existing law, as
provided.

(4) This bill would declare the Legislature’s intent, consistent with the Governor’s Executive Order No. N-29-20,
to improve and enhance public access to state and local agency meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic and
future emergencies by allowing broader access through teleconferencing options.

(5) This bill would incorporate additional changes to Section 54953 of the Government Code proposed by AB 339
to be operative only if this bill and AB 339 are enacted and this bill is enacted last.

(6) The California Constitution requires local agencies, for the purpose of ensuring public access to the meetings
of public bodies and the writings of public officials and agencies, to comply with a statutory enactment that
amends or enacts laws relating to public records or open meetings and contains findings demonstrating that the
enactment furthers the constitutional requirements relating to this purpose.

This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.

(7) Existing constitutional provisions require that a statute that limits the right of access to the meetings of
public bodies or the writings of public officials and agencies be adopted with findings demonstrating the interest
protected by the limitation and the need for protecting that interest.

This bill would make legislative findings to that effect.

(8) This bill would declare that it is to take effect immediately as an urgency statute.

Vote: 2/3   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: yes   Local Program: no  

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Section 89305.6 is added to the Education Code, to read:

89305.6. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, and subject to the notice and accessibility
requirements in subdivisions (d) and (e), a legislative body may hold public meetings through teleconferencing
and make public meetings accessible telephonically, or otherwise electronically, to all members of the public
seeking to observe and to address the legislative body.

(b) (1) For a legislative body holding a public meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section, all
requirements in this article requiring the physical presence of members, the clerk or other personnel of the
legislative body, or the public, as a condition of participation in or quorum for a public meeting, are hereby
suspended.

(2) For a legislative body holding a public meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section, all of the
following requirements in this article are suspended:

8



(A) Each teleconference location from which a member will be participating in a public meeting or proceeding be
identified in the notice and agenda of the public meeting or proceeding.

(B) Each teleconference location be accessible to the public.

(C) Members of the public may address the legislative body at each teleconference conference location.

(D) Post agendas at all teleconference locations.

(E) At least one member of the legislative body be physically present at the location specified in the notice of the
meeting.

(c) A legislative body that holds a meeting through teleconferencing and allows members of the public to observe
and address the meeting telephonically or otherwise electronically, consistent with the notice and accessibility
requirements in subdivisions (d) and (e), shall have satisfied any requirement that the legislative body allow
members of the public to attend the meeting and offer public comment. A legislative body need not make
available any physical location from which members of the public may observe the meeting and offer public
comment.

(d) If a legislative body holds a meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section and allows members
of the public to observe and address the meeting telephonically or otherwise electronically, the legislative body
shall also do both of the following:

(1) Implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable modification or
accommodation from individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12101 et seq.), and resolving any doubt whatsoever in favor of accessibility.

(2) Advertise that procedure each time notice is given of the means by which members of the public may
observe the meeting and offer public comment, pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (e).

(e) Except to the extent this section provides otherwise, each legislative body that holds a meeting through
teleconferencing pursuant to this section shall do both of the following:

(1) Give advance notice of the time of, and post the agenda for, each public meeting according to the timeframes
otherwise prescribed by this article, and using the means otherwise prescribed by this article, as applicable.

(2) In each instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting
is otherwise posted, also give notice of the means by which members of the public may observe the meeting and
offer public comment. As to any instance in which there is a change in the means of public observation and
comment, or any instance prior to the effective date of this section in which the time of the meeting has been
noticed or the agenda for the meeting has been posted without also including notice of the means of public
observation and comment, a legislative body may satisfy this requirement by advertising the means of public
observation and comment using the most rapid means of communication available at the time. Advertising the
means of public observation and comment using the most rapid means of communication available at the time
shall include, but need not be limited to, posting such means on the legislative body’s internet website.

(f) All legislative bodies utilizing the teleconferencing procedures in this section are urged to use sound discretion
and to make reasonable efforts to adhere as closely as reasonably possible to the otherwise applicable provisions
of this article, in order to maximize transparency and provide the public access to legislative body meetings.

(g) This section shall remain in effect only until January 31, 2022, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 2. Section 11133 is added to the Government Code, to read:

11133. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, and subject to the notice and accessibility
requirements in subdivisions (d) and (e), a state body may hold public meetings through teleconferencing and
make public meetings accessible telephonically, or otherwise electronically, to all members of the public seeking
to observe and to address the state body.

(b) (1) For a state body holding a public meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section, all
requirements in this article requiring the physical presence of members, the clerk or other personnel of the state
body, or the public, as a condition of participation in or quorum for a public meeting, are hereby suspended.

9



(2) For a state body holding a public meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section, all of the
following requirements in this article are suspended:

(A) Each teleconference location from which a member will be participating in a public meeting or proceeding be
identified in the notice and agenda of the public meeting or proceeding.

(B) Each teleconference location be accessible to the public.

(C) Members of the public may address the state body at each teleconference conference location.

(D) Post agendas at all teleconference locations.

(E) At least one member of the state body be physically present at the location specified in the notice of the
meeting.

(c) A state body that holds a meeting through teleconferencing and allows members of the public to observe and
address the meeting telephonically or otherwise electronically, consistent with the notice and accessibility
requirements in subdivisions (d) and (e), shall have satisfied any requirement that the state body allow members
of the public to attend the meeting and offer public comment. A state body need not make available any physical
location from which members of the public may observe the meeting and offer public comment.

(d) If a state body holds a meeting through teleconferencing pursuant to this section and allows members of the
public to observe and address the meeting telephonically or otherwise electronically, the state body shall also do
both of the following:

(1) Implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable modification or
accommodation from individuals with disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12101 et seq.), and resolving any doubt whatsoever in favor of accessibility.

(2) Advertise that procedure each time notice is given of the means by which members of the public may
observe the meeting and offer public comment, pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (e).

(e) Except to the extent this section provides otherwise, each state body that holds a meeting through
teleconferencing pursuant to this section shall do both of the following:

(1) Give advance notice of the time of, and post the agenda for, each public meeting according to the timeframes
otherwise prescribed by this article, and using the means otherwise prescribed by this article, as applicable.

(2) In each instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting
is otherwise posted, also give notice of the means by which members of the public may observe the meeting and
offer public comment. As to any instance in which there is a change in the means of public observation and
comment, or any instance prior to the effective date of this section in which the time of the meeting has been
noticed or the agenda for the meeting has been posted without also including notice of the means of public
observation and comment, a state body may satisfy this requirement by advertising the means of public
observation and comment using the most rapid means of communication available at the time. Advertising the
means of public observation and comment using the most rapid means of communication available at the time
shall include, but need not be limited to, posting such means on the state body’s internet website.

(f) All state bodies utilizing the teleconferencing procedures in this section are urged to use sound discretion and
to make reasonable efforts to adhere as closely as reasonably possible to the otherwise applicable provisions of
this article, in order to maximize transparency and provide the public access to state body meetings.

(g) This section shall remain in effect only until January 31, 2022, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 3. Section 54953 of the Government Code is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all

10



otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any meeting
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting
shall be by rollcall.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which
the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). The agenda shall provide
an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 at
each teleconference location.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations.

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a final
action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency
executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final action is to
be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the
process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations
within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is established
pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint
powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the
purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory
committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340)
of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) A local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision in any
of the following circumstances:

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials have
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of determining,
by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the
health or safety of attendees.

11



(C) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this chapter.

(B) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall provide an
opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. In
each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the
meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of the
public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity
for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option. This subparagraph shall not be
construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from which the public may attend or
comment.

(C) The legislative body shall conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties and the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(D) In the event of a disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting the meeting to members of
the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local
agency’s control which prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option or
internet-based service option, the body shall take no further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda
until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken
on agenda items during a disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting the meeting may be
challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and must
provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. This
subparagraph shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from which the
public may attend or comment.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of an
internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that requires
registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet
website or online platform to participate.

(G) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close the
public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (F), to
provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment separately
on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public members the
opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to register pursuant to
subparagraph (F), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment.

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a
specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to
subparagraph (F), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to
promote social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than 30 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant
to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph (1), and every 30 days thereafter, make the following findings by
majority vote:

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) Any of the following circumstances exist:

(i) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person.

(ii) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

12



(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, “state of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant
to Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter
7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(f) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 3.1. Section 54953 of the Government Code is amended to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency in person, except as otherwise provided
in this chapter. Local agencies shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable state and
federal civil rights laws, including, but not limited to, any applicable language access and other nondiscrimination
obligations.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a
specific type of meeting or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any meeting
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting
shall be by rollcall.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which
the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). The agenda shall provide
an opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 at
each teleconference location.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations.

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a final
action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency
executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final action is to
be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the
process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations
within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is established
pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

13



(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint
powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the
purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory
committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340)
of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) (1) A local agency may use teleconferencing without complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision in any
of the following circumstances:

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials have
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of determining,
by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the
health or safety of attendees.

(C) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by
majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would
present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:

(A) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as otherwise required by this chapter.

(B) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the meeting and the agenda shall provide an
opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. In
each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the
meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of the
public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity
for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service option. This subparagraph shall not be
construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from which the public may attend or
comment.

(C) The legislative body shall conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties and the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency.

(D) In the event of a disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting the meeting to members of
the public using the call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local
agency’s control which prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option or
internet-based service option, the body shall take no further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda
until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken
on agenda items during a disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting the meeting may be
challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the meeting and must
provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. This
subparagraph shall not be construed to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from which the
public may attend or comment.

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public comment through the use of an
internet website, or other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative body, that requires
registration to log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet
website or online platform to participate.

(G) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each agenda item shall not close the
public comment period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (F), to
provide public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment separately
on each agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public members the
opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to register pursuant to
subparagraph (F), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment.

14



(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period that does not correspond to a
specific agenda item shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to
subparagraph (F), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to
promote social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of
subdivision (b), the legislative body shall, not later than 30 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant
to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph (1), and every 30 days thereafter, make the following findings by
majority vote:

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency.

(B) Any of the following circumstances exist:

(i) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person.

(ii) State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, “state of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant
to Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with Section 8550) of Chapter
7 of Division 1 of Title 2).

(f) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 4. Section 54953 is added to the Government Code, to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as otherwise provided in this
chapter.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting
or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any meeting
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting
shall be by rollcall.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which
the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivision (d). The agenda shall provide an
opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 at
each teleconference location.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a final
action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency
executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final action is to
be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5

15



(commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the
process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations
within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is established
pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint
powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the
purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory
committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340)
of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2024.

SEC. 4.1. Section 54953 is added to the Government Code, to read:

54953. (a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be
permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, in person except as otherwise provided
in this chapter. Local agencies shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with applicable state and
federal civil rights laws, including, but not limited to, any applicable language access and other nondiscrimination
obligations.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local agency may use
teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency in connection with any
meeting or proceeding authorized by law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all
requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting
or proceeding.

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes in connection with any meeting
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting
shall be by rollcall.

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all
teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects the statutory and
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. Each
teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the
members of the legislative body shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which
the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivision (d). The agenda shall provide an
opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 at
each teleconference location.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both. Nothing
in this section shall prohibit a local agency from providing the public with additional teleconference locations.

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final.

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken and the vote or abstention on
that action of each member present for the action.

16



(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary of a recommendation for a final
action on the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency
executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final action is to
be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the
process of developing the recommendation.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health
authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be
counted toward the establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of
the number of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the territory over
which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the number
and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting.

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority members from regularly
meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations
within or near the jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is established
pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section.

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7,
14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint
powers authority created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the
purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory
committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340)
of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more members.

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2024.

SEC. 5. Sections 3.1 and 4.1 of this bill incorporate amendments to Section 54953 of the Government Code
proposed by both this bill and Assembly Bill 339. Those sections of this bill shall only become operative if (1)
both bills are enacted and become effective on or before January 1, 2022, but this bill becomes operative first,
(2) each bill amends Section 54953 of the Government Code, and (3) this bill is enacted after Assembly Bill 339,
in which case Section 54953 of the Government Code, as amended by Sections 3 and 4 of this bill, shall remain
operative only until the operative date of Assembly Bill 339, at which time Sections 3.1 and 4.1 of this bill shall
become operative.

SEC. 6. It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this act to improve and enhance public access to state and
local agency meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic and future applicable emergencies, by allowing broader
access through teleconferencing options consistent with the Governor’s Executive Order No. N-29-20 dated
March 17, 2020, permitting expanded use of teleconferencing during the COVID-19 pandemic.

SEC. 7. The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 3 and 4 of this act, which amend, repeal, and add
Section 54953 of the Government Code, further, within the meaning of paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of
Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the purposes of that constitutional section as it relates to the
right of public access to the meetings of local public bodies or the writings of local public officials and local
agencies. Pursuant to paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the
Legislature makes the following findings:

This act is necessary to ensure minimum standards for public participation and notice requirements allowing for
greater public participation in teleconference meetings during applicable emergencies.

SEC. 8. (a) The Legislature finds and declares that during the COVID-19 public health emergency, certain
requirements of the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act (Article 9 (commencing with Section 11120) of Chapter 1 of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code) were suspended by Executive Order N-29-20. Audio and
video teleconference were widely used to conduct public meetings in lieu of physical location meetings, and
public meetings conducted by teleconference during the COVID-19 public health emergency have been
productive, have increased public participation by all members of the public regardless of their location in the
state and ability to travel to physical meeting locations, have protected the health and safety of civil servants
and the public, and have reduced travel costs incurred by members of state bodies and reduced work hours
spent traveling to and from meetings.

17



(b) The Legislature finds and declares that Section 1 of this act, which adds and repeals Section 89305.6 of the
Education Code, Section 2 of this act, which adds and repeals Section 11133 of the Government Code, and
Sections 3 and 4 of this act, which amend, repeal, and add Section 54953 of the Government Code, all increase
and potentially limit the public’s right of access to the meetings of public bodies or the writings of public officials
and agencies within the meaning of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution. Pursuant to that
constitutional provision, the Legislature makes the following findings to demonstrate the interest protected by
this limitation and the need for protecting that interest:

(1) By removing the requirement that public meetings be conducted at a primary physical location with a
quorum of members present, this act protects the health and safety of civil servants and the public and does not
preference the experience of members of the public who might be able to attend a meeting in a physical location
over members of the public who cannot travel or attend that meeting in a physical location.

(2) By removing the requirement for agendas to be placed at the location of each public official participating in a
public meeting remotely, including from the member’s private home or hotel room, this act protects the
personal, private information of public officials and their families while preserving the public’s right to access
information concerning the conduct of the people’s business.

SEC. 9. This act is an urgency statute necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or
safety within the meaning of Article IV of the California Constitution and shall go into immediate effect. The facts
constituting the necessity are:

In order to ensure that state and local agencies can continue holding public meetings while providing essential
services like water, power, and fire protection to their constituents during public health, wildfire, or other states
of emergencies, it is necessary that this act take effect immediately.

18



Agenda Item No.: 6.B 
Mtg. Date: 12/07/2021

TO: HONORABLE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING
COMMISSION

FROM: CHRISTIAN HORVATH,

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS MINUTES FOR NOVEMBER 30,
2021

DATE: December 07, 2021

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
The Committee on Trees and Views is composed of three members of the Planning Commission. On
November 30, 2021, the Committee held a virtual meeting.
 
DISCUSSION:
 Attached are the minutes for the meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
 None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
 Receive and file.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
2021-11-30 CTV Minutes.pdf

19

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1162801/2021-11-30_CTV_Minutes.pdf


20



21



Agenda Item No.: 8.A 
Mtg. Date: 12/07/2021

TO: HONORABLE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING
COMMISSION

FROM: STEPHANIE GRANT , ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: COMMITTEE ON TREES AND VIEWS RESOLUTION NO. 2021-21-CTV

DATE: December 07, 2021

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:
On November 30,2021, the Committee on Trees and Views (CTV) held a meeting to discuss a view
preservation dispute between properties at 61 Eastfield Drive and 59 Eastfield Drive.
 
DISCUSSION:
The CTV discussed the item, recommended restorative actions, conditions, and adoption of Resolution
No. 2021-21-CTV. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve as presented.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
Resolution No. 2021-21-CTV.pdf

22

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163215/Resolution_No._2021-21-CTV.pdf


23



24



25



26



27



28



29



Agenda Item No.: 10.A 
Mtg. Date: 12/07/2021

TO: HONORABLE CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING
COMMISSION

FROM: STEPHANIE GRANT , ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK

THRU: ELAINE JENG P.E., CITY MANAGER

SUBJECT: SB 9 URGENCY ORDINANCE

DATE: December 07, 2021

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND:

Earlier this year, Governor Newsom signed several new housing bills into law. Senate Bill 9 (SB 9) is
the most controversial and substantive of the new housing laws. SB 9 requires cities to allow any single-
family zoned lot to be split into two lots and allow up to two single-family dwellings on each created lot
without any discretionary review. This could result in the development of up to four dwelling units on
what was formally one single-family residential lot with no public hearing. SB 9 allows local
governments to impose restrictions on lot splits and two-unit projects, but any such restrictions must be
objective and necessary to protect public health and safety.

 
The new SB 9 provisions go into effect on January 1, 2022. As a result, staff is recommending that the
Planning Commission adopt the proposed resolution recommending approval to the City Council of an
ordinance that would amend the City’s Land Use, Subdivision, and Fire Code to bring the City’s current
residential lot split and residential development regulations into conformance with the new SB 9
regulations. In addition, the ordinance would impose the restrictions allowed by SB 9 so that any SB 9
lot splits and two-unit projects remain compatible with existing residential neighborhoods as much as
possible.
 
At the September 27, 2021 meeting, the City Council directed the City Attorney's office to provide input
and advice on SB 9.  At the October 11, 2021, the City Council meeting, the City Attorney's office gave
a presentation on the provisions of SB 9.  At the October 25, 2021 City Council meeting, the City
Attorney's office provided a draft ordinance to comply with the provisions of SB 9.  The City Council
delayed the review and discussion of the draft ordinance to the November 8, 2021 City Council
meeting. 
 
At the November 8, 2021 City Council meeting, the Council provided feedback on the draft ordinance
and directed the City Attorney to prepare another draft.  The City Council also directed staff to present

30



the updated draft to the Planning Commission for review and adoption.  Prior to the November 8, 2021
City Council meeting, the Planning Commission cancelled the November meeting.  The Planning
Commission could not review the updated draft ordinance, so the City Council directed staff to bring
back the updated ordinance to the City Council at the November 22, 2021 meeting. Subsequently, the
City Council directed staff to present the updated draft ordinance to the Planning Commission. 
 
DISCUSSION:

SB 9 allows any single-family lot to be split, roughly into halves, with resulting lots as small as 1,200
square feet. In addition, SB 9 allows up to two single-family dwellings to be developed on each created
lot. An SB 9 lot split followed by an SB 9 two-unit project on each of the two new lots would result in
four total dwellings on what was formally one single-family residential lot, all without any discretionary
review. SB 9 requires said lot splits and resulting two-unit projects to be approved ministerially with no
public hearing. SB 9 allows local governments to impose limited restrictions on lot splits and two-unit
projects, but any such restrictions must be objective and necessary to protect public health and safety.
Provided below is a summary of the SB 9 provisions.

 

Regulations for Urban Lot Splits

A lot split must result in two lots that are fairly equal in size (a 60/40 split at most)
Each new lot must be at least 1,200 square feet in size
A lot split cannot involve the demolition or alteration of a) affordable housing, b) rent-controlled
housing, c) housing that was withdrawn from rent within the last 15 years or d) housing occupied
by a tenant in the past three years
A lot split must be in a single-family zone
A lot cannot be split if it is a historic landmark or within a designated historic district
The lot split must be within an urbanized area or urban cluster. This includes most cities in the
state including Rolling Hills.
A lot cannot be split if it was established through a prior SB 9 lot split
A lot cannot be split if the lot owner or anyone acting in concert with the lot owner previously
subdivided an adjacent parcel through the SB 9 lot split process

 

Restraints on Local Regulations for Urban Lot Splits    

Local agencies may only impose objective subdivision standards on lot splits
Objective subdivision standards must allow the construction of two units of at least 800 square
feet per lot
Local agencies must prohibit non-residential use of the new lots
No right-of-way dedications or offsite improvements may be required
No correction of any existing non-conforming zoning conditions may be required
The applicant must sign an affidavit stating that the owner intends to occupy one of the housing
units as the owner’s principal residence for at least three years following the lot split
Local agencies must report the number of SB 9 lot-split applications to the state on an annual
basis
Local agencies may only deny an otherwise qualifying SB 9 lot split if the City’s Building
Official finds that the resulting housing development project would have a specific adverse
impact on public health and safety or the physical environment and there is no feasible,

31



satisfactory mitigation
 

Regulations for Two-Unit Projects on Urban Lot Splits

The project must be located with an urbanized area or urban cluster. This includes most cities in
the state including Rolling Hills.
The project cannot involve the demolition or alteration of a) affordable housing, b) rent-
controlled housing, c) housing that was withdrawn from rent within the last 15 years or d)
housing occupied by a tenant in the past three years
The project site cannot be a historic landmark or within a designated historic district
The project cannot involve the demolition of more than 25% of the exterior walls of an existing
dwelling unless allowed to do so by the local jurisdiction or the site has not been occupied by a
tenant in the last three years

 

Restraints on Local Standards for Two-Unit Projects on Urban Lot Splits

Local agencies may only impose objective zoning standards and objective design standards on
proposed projects
Objective standards must allow the construction of two units of at least 800 square feet per lot
Local agencies may require only one off-street parking space per unit and must allow no off-
street parking if the site is one-half mile walking distance of either a “high-quality transit
corridor” or “major transit stop” or one block of a car share vehicle location
Local agencies may apply the existing setbacks of the underlying zoning district except for
existing and replacement structures, and to allow for at least two 800 square foot units. Local
agencies must allow side and rear setbacks of four feet.
Local agencies must prohibit short-term rentals of units created under SB 9
When a lot is both created by an SB 9 lot split and developed with an SB 9 two-unit development,
a local agency may prohibit Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADUs) and Junior ADUs on that lot
Because the approval of SB 9 two-unit projects is a ministerial action, CEQA does not apply

 

Areas where SB 9 Lot Splits/Two-Unit Projects Are Prohibited  

Prime farmland or farmland of statewide significance as defined by the U.S. Department of
Agriculture
Wetlands as defined by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
Within a Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone unless the lot complies with fire-safety mitigation
measures
A hazardous waste site
Within a delineated earthquake fault zone
Within a flood plain or floodway
Within Natural Community Conservation Planning (NCCP) lands
Within federally or state protected habitat
Within land protected by a conservation easement

 

SB 9 and ADUs 

A lot that is not split and developed with two detached SB 9 primary units is allowed one ADU

32



and one Junior ADU within only one of the primary units for a total of four units on the lot.
A lot that is not split and developed with two attached SB 9 primary units is allowed one
converted ADU and two detached ADUs for a total of five units on the lot.
A lot that is split is allowed to have two “units” of any kind on each of the resulting lots. “Units”
include the original main house, new primary unit(s) under SB 9, an ADU, or a JADU. A total of
four units can be built from the original lot.

 

SB 9 and HOAs  

SB 9 only applies to local agencies. There are no provisions in SB 9 that would affect an HOA’s private
CC&Rs or private restrictive covenants.
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
None.    
 
RECOMMENDATION:
Discuss the proposed urgency ordinance and adopt the attached resolution recommending to the City
Council approval of an ordinance adding Chapters 16.50 (SB 9 Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-
Unit Projects) to the Rolling Hills Municipal code and amending Chapter 15.20 (Fire Code) of the
Rolling Hills Municipal Code; and determining the action to be exempt from CEQA. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:
RH PC Resolution No. SB 9-c1.DOCX
2021-11-30 RHCA Comments.pdf
SB-9_Letter_to_RH_City_11-24-21.pdf
Supplemental Exhibit A - SB9 Code Amendments_12.07.21.DOCX

33

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1162164/RH_PC_Resolution_No._SB_9-c1.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163320/2021-11-30_RHCA_Comments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1163905/SB-9_Letter_to_RH_City_11-24-21.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1168649/Exhibit_A_-_SB9_Code_Amendments_12.07.21.pdf


RESOLUTION NO. 2021-__

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF ROLLING HILLS RECOMMENDING TO THE CITY COUNCIL
APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTERS 16.50 (SB 
9 URBAN LOT SPLITS) AND 17.45 (SB 9 TWO-UNIT PROJECTS) 
TO THE ROLLING HILLS MUNICIPAL CODE AND AMENDING 
CHAPTER 15.20 (FIRE CODE) OF THE ROLLING HILLS 
MUNICIPAL CODE; AND DETERMINING THE ACTION TO BE 
EXEMPT FROM CEQA

RECITALS

A. The City of Rolling Hills has noticed the public hearing for the proposed 
ordinance in accordance with Government Code Section 65090; and 

B. On December 7, 2021, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed 
public hearing to consider the proposed ordinance, which would add Chapters 16.50 (SB 
9 Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects) to the Rolling Hills Municipal Code 
and amend Chapter 15.20 (Fire Code) of the Rolling Hills Municipal Code; and 

C. The proposed, added Chapters 16.50 and 17.45 and amended Chapter 
15.20 are intended to conform the City’s Zoning Code, Subdivision Code, and Building 
Code with Senate Bill 9 (“SB 9”) by adopting various objective development standards
and fire mitigation measures for projects effectuated thereunder; and

D. The Planning Commission has considered the staff report, supporting 
documents, public testimony, and all appropriate information that has been submitted with 
the proposed ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission of the City of Rolling Hills does 
hereby resolve, determine, find, and order as follows:

Section 1. Recitals. The Planning Commission hereby finds that the foregoing 
recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein as substantive findings of this 
Resolution. 

Section 2. CEQA. Under California Government Code sections 65852.21(j) and 
66411.7(n), the adoption of an ordinance by a city implementing the provisions of 
Government Code sections 66411.7 and 65852.21 and regulating urban lot splits and 
two-unit projects is statutorily exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). Therefore, the Planning Commission finds that 
adoption of the proposed ordinance is statutorily exempt from CEQA because it 
implements these new laws enacted by SB 9. In addition to being statutorily exempt, the 
adoption of an ordinance by a city taken to protect the environment and natural resources 
is categorically exempt from the requirements of CEQA pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
Sections 15307 and 15308. Therefore,  the Planning Commission finds that the adoption 
of the proposed ordinance is categorically exempt from CEQA because it implements fire 

34



Planning Commission Resolution No. 2021-__
Page 2 of 2

mitigation measures as contemplated by SB 9 to protect the City, its inhabitants, animals, 
environment, and natural resources from a wildfire disaster. 

Section 3. Hazardous Waste Management Plan. Based on the entire record 
before the Planning Commission, and all written and oral evidence presented, the 
Planning Commission hereby finds that the proposed ordinance’s amendments to the 
Rolling Hills Municipal Code are consistent with the portions of the County of Los Angeles 
Hazardous Waste Management Plan relating to siting and siting criteria for hazardous 
waste facilities; the ordinance’s amendments will not conflict with hazardous waste 
stream generated in the County, the existing facilities to treat, recycle, and dispose of 
hazardous waste, or the identified new sites for hazardous waste facilities. 

Section 4. Recommendation. Based on the foregoing recitals and findings, 
the Planning Commission hereby recommends that the City Council approve and adopt
of the proposed ordinance language attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”

Section 5. Certification.  The Planning Commission Chair shall sign and the 
Secretary shall attest to the adoption of this Resolution.

Section 6. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 
upon its adoption.

APPROVED AND ADOPTED This 7th day of December 2021, by the Planning 
Commission of the City of Rolling Hills, California by the following roll call vote:

AYES: Commissioners: 
NOES: Commissioners: 
ABSENT: Commissioners: 
ABSTAIN: Commissioners:

______________________________
Brad Chelf, Chair

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



93939.00053\34479184.3

EXHIBIT A

Section 1. Title 16 (Subdivisions) of the City of Rolling Hill’s Municipal Code is hereby amended 
to add Chapter 16.50 (SB 9 Urban Lot Splits) to read as follows:

CHAPTER 16.50 SB 9 URBAN LOT SPLITS

Section 16.50.010 Purpose

The purpose of this chapter is to allow and appropriately regulate urban lot splits in accordance 
with Government Code section 66411.7.

Section 16.50.020 Definition

An “urban lot split” means a the subdivision of an existing, legally subdivided lot into two lots in 
accordance with the requirements of this section.

Section 16.50.030 Application

(1) Only individual property owners may apply for an urban lot split. “Individual 
property owner” means a natural person holding fee title individually or jointly in 
the person’s own name or a beneficiary of a trust that holds fee title. “Individual 
property owner” does not include any corporation or corporate person of any kind 
(partnership, LP, LLC, C corp, S corp, etc.) except for a community land trust (as 
defined by Rev. & Tax Code § 402.1(a)(11)(C)(ii)) or a qualified nonprofit 
corporation (as defined by § 214.15).

(2) An application for an urban lot split must be submitted on the city’s approved 
form. Such application shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
documents: a certificate of compliance with all applicable fire-hazard mitigation 
measures in accordance with this Chapter; copies of the unrecorded easement 
agreements for public utilities in accordance with this Chapter; a survey from a 
qualified biologist showing that there are no protected species on site; and an 
affidavit certifying compliance with all requirements of this Chapter. Only a 
complete application will be considered. The city will inform the applicant in 
writing of any incompleteness within 30 days after the application is submitted.

(3) The city may establish a fee to recover its costs for adopting, implementing, and 
enforcing this section of the code, in accordance with applicable law. The city 
council may establish and change the fee by resolution. The fee must be paid with 
the application.

Section 16.50.040 Approval

(1) An application for a parcel map for an urban lot split is approved or denied 
ministerially, by the planning director or his or her designee, without 
discretionary review.

65



93939.00053\34479184.3

(2) A tentative parcel map for an urban lot split is approved ministerially if it 
complies with all the requirements of this section. The tentative parcel map may 
not be recorded. A final parcel map is approved ministerially as well, but not until 
the owner demonstrates that the required documents have been recorded, such as 
the deed restriction and easements. The tentative parcel map expires three months 
after approval.

(3) The approval must require the owner and applicant to hold the city harmless from 
all claims and damages related to the approval and its subject matter.

(4) The approval must require the owner and applicant to reimburse the city for all 
costs of enforcement, including attorneys’ fees and costs associated with 
enforcing the requirements of this code. 

Section 16.50.050 Requirements

(a) An urban lot split must satisfy each of the following requirements:

(1) Map Act Compliance. 

(A) The urban lot split must conform to all applicable objective requirements 
of the Subdivision Map Act (Gov. Code § 66410 et. seq., “SMA”), 
including implementing requirements in this code, except as otherwise 
expressly provided in this section. 

(B) If an urban lot split violates any part of the SMA, the city’s subdivision 
regulations, including this section, or any other legal requirement: 

(i) The buyer or grantee of a lot that is created by the urban lot split 
has all the remedies available under the SMA, including but not 
limited to an action for damages or to void the deed, sale, or 
contract.

(ii) The city has all the remedies available to it under the SMA, 
including but not limited to the following:

(I) An action to enjoin any attempt to sell, lease, or finance the 
property.

(II) An action for other legal, equitable, or summary remedy, 
such as declaratory and injunctive relief.

(III) Criminal prosecution, punishable by imprisonment in 
county jail or state prison for up to one year, by a fine of up 
to $10,000, or both; or a misdemeanor.

(IV) Record a notice of violation.

66



93939.00053\34479184.3

(V) Withhold any or all future permits and approvals.

(C) Notwithstanding section 66411.1 of the SMA, no dedication of rights-of-
way or construction of offsite improvements is required for an urban lot 
split.

(2) Zone. The lot to be split is in a single-family residential zone. 

(3) Lot Location. The lot is not located on a site that is any of the following:

(A) Either prime farmland or farmland of statewide importance, as defined 
pursuant to United States Department of Agriculture land inventory and 
monitoring criteria, as modified for California, and designated on the maps 
prepared by the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 
Department of Conservation, or land zoned or designated for agricultural 
protection or preservation by a local ballot measure that was approved by 
the voters of that jurisdiction.

(B) Wetlands, as defined in the United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
Manual, Part 660 FW 2 (June 21, 1993).

(C) Within a very high fire hazard severity zone, as determined by the 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection pursuant to Section 51178 of 
the Government Code, or within a high or very high fire hazard severity 
zone as indicated on maps adopted by the Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection pursuant to Section 4202 of the Public Resources Code. This 
subparagraph does not apply to sites excluded from the specified hazard 
zones by a local agency, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 51179 of 
the Government Code, or sites that have adopted fire hazard mitigation 
measures pursuant to existing building standards or state fire mitigation 
measures applicable to the development.

(D) A hazardous waste site that is listed pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
Government Code or a hazardous waste site designated by the Department 
of Toxic Substances Control pursuant to Section 25356 of the Health and 
Safety Code, unless the Department of Toxic Substances Control has 
cleared the site for residential use or residential mixed uses.

(E) Within a delineated earthquake fault zone as determined by the State 
Geologist in any official maps published by the State Geologist, unless the 
development complies with applicable seismic protection building code 
standards adopted by the California Building Standards Commission under 
the California Building Standards Law (Part 2.5 (commencing with 
Section 18901) of Division 13 of the Health and Safety Code), and by any 
local building department under Chapter 12.2 (commencing with Section 
8875) of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

67



93939.00053\34479184.3

(F) Within a flood plain as determined by maps promulgated by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, unless the development has been issued 
a flood plain development permit pursuant to Part 59 (commencing with 
Section 59.1) and Part 60 (commencing with Section 60.1) of Subchapter 
B of Chapter I of Title 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(G) Within a floodway as determined by maps promulgated by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, unless the development has received a 
no-rise certification in accordance with Section 60.3(d)(3) of Title 44 of 
the Code of Federal Regulations.

(H) Lands identified for conservation in an adopted natural community 
conservation plan pursuant to the Natural Community Conservation 
Planning Act (Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 2800) of Division 3 
of the Fish and Game Code), habitat conservation plan pursuant to the 
federal Endangered Species Act of 1973 (16 U.S.C. Sec. 1531 et seq.), or 
other adopted natural resource protection plan.

(I) Habitat for protected species identified as candidate, sensitive, or species 
of special status by state or federal agencies, fully protected species, or 
species protected by the federal Endangered Species Act of 1973 (16 
U.S.C. Sec. 1531 et seq.), the California Endangered Species Act (Chapter 
1.5 (commencing with Section 2050) of Division 3 of the Fish and Game 
Code), or the Native Plant Protection Act (Chapter 10 (commencing with 
Section 1900) of Division 2 of the Fish and Game Code).

(J) Lands under conservation easement.

(4) Not Historic. The lot to be split must not be a historic property or within a 
historic district that is included on the State Historic Resources Inventory. Nor 
may the lot be or be within a site that is designated by ordinance as a city or 
county landmark or as a historic property or district.

(5) No Prior Urban Lot Split.

(A) The lot to be split was not established through a prior urban lot split.

(B) The lot to be split is not adjacent to any lot that was established through a 
prior urban lot split by the owner of the lot to be split or by any person 
acting in concert with the owner. 

(6) No Impact on Protected Housing. The urban lot split must not require or include 
the demolition or alteration of any of the following types of housing:

(A) Housing that is income-restricted for households of moderate, low, or very 
low income.

68



93939.00053\34479184.3

(B) Housing that is subject to any form of rent or price control through a 
public entity’s valid exercise of its police power.

(C) Housing, or a lot that used to have housing, that has been withdrawn from 
rental or lease under the Ellis Act (Gov. Code §§ 7060–7060.7) at any 
time in the 15 years prior to submission of the urban lot split application.

(D) Housing that has been occupied by a tenant in the last three years. The 
applicant and the owner of a property for which an urban lot split is sought 
must provide a sworn statement as to this fact with the application for the 
parcel map. The city may conduct its own inquiries and investigation to 
ascertain the veracity of the sworn statement, including but not limited to, 
surveying owners of nearby properties; and the city may require additional 
evidence of the applicant and owner as necessary to determine compliance 
with this requirement.

(7) Lot Size.

(A) The lot to be split must be at least 2,400 square feet.

(B) The resulting lots must each be at least 1,200 square feet.

(C) Each of the resulting lots must be between 60 percent and 40 percent of 
the original lot area.

(8) Easements. 

(A) The owner must enter into an easement agreement with each public-
service provider to establish easements that are sufficient for the provision 
of public services and facilities to each of the resulting lots. 

(B) Each easement must be shown on the tentative parcel map. 

(C) Copies of the unrecorded easement agreements must be submitted with the 
application. The easement agreements must be recorded against the 
property before the final map may be approved, in accordance with 
Section 16.50.040

(D) If an easement is recorded and the project is not completed, making the 
easement moot, the property owner may request, and the city will provide, 
a notice of termination of the easement, which the owner may record.

(9) Lot Access. 

(A) Each resulting lot must adjoin the right of way.

(B) Each resulting lot must have frontage on the right of way of at least 50
feet. 

69



93939.00053\34479184.3

(10) Unit Standards.

(A) Quantity. No more than two dwelling units of any kind may be built on a 
lot that results from an urban lot split. For purposes of this paragraph, 
“unit” means any dwelling unit, including, but not limited to, a primary 
dwelling unit, a unit created under Chapter 17.45 of this code, an ADU, or 
a JADU

(B) Unit Size. 

(i) The total floor area of each primary dwelling that is developed on a 
resulting lot must be 

(I) less than or equal to 800 and 

(II) more than 500 square feet.

(ii) A primary dwelling that was legally established prior to the urban 
lot split and that is larger than 800 square feet is limited to the 
lawful floor area at the time of the urban lot split. It may not be 
expanded.

(iii) A primary dwelling that was legally established prior to the urban 
lot split and that is smaller than 800 square feet may be expanded 
to 800 square feet after the urban lot split.

(C) Height Restrictions. 

(i) No new primary dwelling unit may exceed a single story or 16 feet 
in height, measured from grade to peak of the structure.

(ii) No rooftop deck is permitted on any new or remodeled dwelling or 
structure on a lot resulting from an urban lot split.

(D) Proximity to Stable and Corral Site. A primary dwelling unit is a 
residential structure that shall be located a minimum of thirty-five feet 
from any stable, corral, and related animal keeping uses and structures as 
required in Chapter 17.18. This standard is only enforced to the extent that 
it does not prevent two primary dwelling units on the lot at 800 square feet 
each.

(E) Lot Coverage. All structures as defined in Section 17.16.070 on a lot shall 
not cover more than twenty percent of the net lot area. All structures and 
all other impervious surfaces as defined in Section 17.16.070 on a lot shall 
not cover more than thirty-five percent of the net lot area. These lot 
coverage standards are only enforced to the extent that they do not prevent 
two primary dwelling units on the lot at 800 square feet each.

70



93939.00053\34479184.3

(F) Open Space. No development pursuant to this Chapter may cause the total 
percentage of open space of the lot fall below fifty percent. This open 
space standard is only enforced to the extent that it does not prevent two 
primary dwelling units on the lot at 800 square feet each.

(G) Setbacks.

(i) Generally. All setbacks must conform to those objective setbacks 
that are imposed through the underlying zone. 

(ii) Exceptions. Notwithstanding subpart (10)(G) above:

(I) Existing Structures. No setback is required for an existing
legally established structure or for a new structure that is 
constructed in the same location and to the same 
dimensions as an existing legally established structure.

(II) 800 sf; four-foot side and rear. The setbacks imposed by 
the underlying zone must yield to the degree necessary to 
avoid physically precluding the construction of up to two 
units on the lot or either of the two units from being at least 
800 square feet in floor area; but in no event may any 
structure be less than four feet from a side or rear property 
line. 

(iii) Front Setback Area. Notwithstanding any other part of this code, 
dwellings that are constructed after an urban lot split must be at 
least 30 feet from the front property lines. The front setback areas
must:

(I) be kept free from all structures greater than three feet high;

(II) be at least 50 percent landscaped with drought-tolerant 
plants, with vegetation and irrigation plans approved by a 
licensed landscape architect;

(III) allow for vehicular and fire-safety access.

(H) Parking. Each new primary dwelling unit that is built on a lot after an 
urban lot split must have at least one off-street parking space per unit 
unless one of the following applies:

(i) The lot is located within one-half mile walking distance of either 

(I) a corridor with fixed route bus service with service 
intervals no longer than 15 minutes during peak commute 
hours or 

71



93939.00053\34479184.3

(II) a site that contains 

(ia) an existing rail or bus rapid transit station, 

(ib) a ferry terminal served by either a bus or rail transit 
service, or 

(ic) the intersection of two or more major bus routes 
with a frequency of service interval of 15 minutes 
or less during the morning and afternoon peak 
commute periods.

(ii) The site is located within one block of a car-share vehicle location. 

(I) Architecture.

(i) Architecture is limited to white California ranch style homes 
rambling in character (“U” shaped footprint) with low profile 
silhouette (50% of building must have exterior wall height of 8’6”) 
and exterior three-rail fences. Examples of allowed architecture are 
as follows:

(I) Traditional Ranch

(ia) Hip, gable, or Dutch gable roof design

(ib) Medium roof pitch (3.5:12 minimum to 5:12 
maximum roof pitch) 

(II) Contemporary Ranch

(ia) Hip or gable roof design

(ib) 3:12 minimum roof pitch

(III) Early California Rancho

(ia) Gable roof design

(ib) 3:12 minimum roof pitch and 4:12 maximum roof 
pitch

(ii) If there is a legal primary dwelling on the lot that was established
before the urban lot split, any new primary dwelling unit must 
match the existing primary dwelling unit in exterior materials, 
color, and dominant roof pitch. The dominant roof slope is the 
slope shared by the largest portion of the roof.

72



93939.00053\34479184.3

(iii) If there is no legal primary dwelling on the lot before the urban lot 
split, and if two primary dwellings are developed on the lot, the 
dwellings must match each other in exterior materials, color, and 
dominant roof pitch. The dominant roof slope is the slope shared 
by the largest portion of the roof.

(iv) All exterior lighting must be limited to down-lights.

(v) No window or door of a dwelling that is constructed on the lot 
after the urban lot split may have a direct line of sight to an 
adjoining residential property. Landscaping, or privacy glass may 
be used to provide screening and prevent a direct line of sight.

(vi) If a dwelling is constructed on a lot after an urban lot split and any 
portion of the dwelling is less than 30 feet from a property line that 
is not a right-of-way line, then all windows and doors in that 
portion must either be (for windows) clerestory with the bottom of 
the glass at least six feet above the finished floor, or (for windows 
and for doors) utilize frosted or obscure glass.

(J) Landscaping. 

Evergreen landscape screening must be planted and maintained between 
each dwelling and adjacent lots (but not rights of way) as follows:

(i) At least one 15-gallon size plant shall be provided for every five 
linear feet of exterior wall. Alternatively, at least one 24” box size 
plant shall be provided for every ten linear feet of exterior wall.

(ii) Plant specimens must be at least eight feet tall when installed. As 
an alternative, a solid fence of at least eight feet in height may be 
installed.

(iii) All landscaping must be drought-tolerant.

(iv) All landscaping must be from the city’s approved plant list.

(K) Nonconforming Conditions. An urban lot split is approved without 
requiring a legal nonconforming zoning condition to be corrected.

(L) Utilities.

(i) Each primary dwelling unit on the lot must have its own direct 
utility connection to the utility service provider. Each primary 
dwelling unit shall have its own water, electrical, and gas meters.

(ii) Each primary dwelling unit must have its own separate direct 
utility connection to an onsite wastewater treatment system or 

73



93939.00053\34479184.3

sewer in accordance with this paragraph and the City’s code. Each 
primary dwelling unit on the lot that is or that is proposed to be 
connected to an onsite wastewater treatment system must first have 
a percolation test completed within the last five years or, if the 
percolation test has been recertified, within the last 10 years.

(iii) All utilities must be undergrounded.

(M) Building & Safety. All structures built on the lot must comply with all 
current local building standards. An urban lot split is a change of use.

(11) Fire-Hazard Mitigation Measures. 

(A) A lot in a very high fire hazard severity zone must comply with each of 
the following fire-hazard mitigation measures:

(i) Water Sources

(I) Fire Hydrants. 

(ia) Public fire hydrants shall be spaced no more than 
600 feet (182.88 m) apart. For properties with more 
than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of lot 
frontage should be more than 360 feet away, via fire 
apparatus access, from a hydrant. For properties less 
than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of a fire 
apparatus access road shall be father than 600 feet 
away, via fire apparatus access, from a properly 
space hydrant that meets the required fire-flow. 

(ib) When any portion of a proposed structure exceeds 
the allowable distances from a public hydrant, via 
fire apparatus access, on-site hydrants shall be 
provided. The spacing distance between on-site 
hydrants shall be 300 to 400 feet (91.44 to 121.92 
m). All on-site fire hydrants shall have, at a 
minimum, a fire-flow of 1,250 gallons per minute 
(4,732 L/min) at 20 psi (137.895 kPa) for a duration 
of two hours. If more than one on-site fire hydrant 
is required, the fire flow shall be 2,500 gallons per 
minute (9,463.53 L/min) at 20 psi (137.895 kPa) for 
a duration of two hours. All on-site hydrants shall 
be installed a minimum of 25 feet (7,620 mm) from 
a structure or protected by a two-hour firewall.

(II) Sprinklers. All enclosed structures on site must have 
automatic sprinkler systems installed.

74



93939.00053\34479184.3

(ii) Access

(I) A lot must have direct access through its own paved 
driveway with a width of at least 30 feet connecting with 
direct access to a paved right of way or fire apparatus 
access road with a width of at least 40 feet, exclusive of 
shoulders. A lot must access such paved right of way or fire 
apparatus access road with at least two independent paved 
points of access for fire and life safety to access and for 
residents to evacuate. 

(II) No dwelling unit shall be within 30 feet of any other 
dwelling unit or any other enclosed structure on such lot.

(iii) All dwellings on the site must comply with current fire code 
requirements for dwellings in a very high fire hazard severity zone. 

(B) Prior to submitting an application for an urban lot split, the applicant must 
obtain a certificate of compliance with all applicable fire-hazard 
mitigation measures in accordance with this subpart. The city or its 
authorized agent must inspect the site, including all structures on the site, 
and certify as to its compliance. The certificate must be included with the 
application. The applicant must pay the city’s costs for inspection. Failure 
to pay is grounds for denying the application. 

(12) Separate Conveyance. 

(A) Within a resulting lot. 

(i) Primary dwelling units on a lot that is created by an urban lot split
may not be owned or conveyed separately from each other. 

(ii) Condominium airspace divisions and common interest 
developments are not permitted on a lot that is created by an urban 
lot split.

(iii) All fee interest in a lot and all dwellings on the lot must be held
equally and undivided by all individual property owners.

(iv) No timeshare, as defined by state law or this code, is permitted. 
This includes any co-ownership arrangement that gives an owner 
the right to exclusive use of the property for a defined period or 
periods of time

(B) Between resulting lots. Separate conveyance of the resulting lots is 
permitted. If dwellings or other structures (such as garages) on different 
lots are adjacent or attached to each other, the urban lot split boundary 
may separate them for conveyance purposes if the structures meet building 

75



93939.00053\34479184.3

code safety standards and are sufficient to allow separate conveyance. If 
any attached structures span or will span the new lot line, the owner must 
record appropriate CC&Rs, easements, or other documentation that is 
necessary to allocate rights and responsibility between the owners of the 
two lots.

(13) Regulation of Uses.

(A) Residential-only. No non-residential use is permitted on any lot created 
by urban lot split.

(B) No STRs. No dwelling unit on a lot that is created by an urban lot split 
may be rented for a period of less than 30 days. 

(C) Owner Occupancy. The applicant for an urban lot split must sign an 
affidavit stating that the applicant intends to occupy one of the dwelling 
units on one of the resulting lots as the applicant's principal residence for a 
minimum of three years after the urban lot split is approved.

(14) Notice of Construction. 

(A) At least 30 business days before starting any construction of a structure on 
a lot created by an urban lot split, the property owner must give written 
notice to all the owners of record of each of the adjacent residential 
parcels, which notice must include the following information:

(i) Notice that construction has been authorized,

(ii) The anticipated start and end dates for construction,

(iii) The hours of construction,

(iv) Contact information for the project manager (for construction-
related complaints), and

(v) Contact information for the Building & Safety Department.

(B) This notice requirement does not confer a right on the noticed persons or 
on anyone else to comment on the project before permits are issued.  
Approval is ministerial.  Under state law, the City has no discretion in 
approving or denying a particular project under this section. This notice 
requirement is purely to promote neighborhood awareness and 
expectation.

(15) Deed Restriction. The owner must record a deed restriction, on each lot that 
results from the urban lot split, on a form approved by the city, that does each of 
the following:

76



93939.00053\34479184.3

(A) Expressly prohibits any rental of any dwelling on the property for a period 
of less than 30 days.

(B) Expressly prohibits any non-residential use of the lots created by the urban 
lot split.

(C) Expressly prohibits any separate conveyance of a primary dwelling on the 
property, any separate fee interest, and any common interest development 
within the lot.

(D) States that:

(i) The lot is formed by an urban lot split and is therefore subject and 
limited to the city’s urban lot split regulations under this Chapter, 
including all applicable limits on dwelling size and development
pursuant to this Chapter.

(ii) Development on the lot is limited to development of residential 
units under Chapter 17.45 of this Code, except as required by state 
law.

(b) Specific Adverse Impacts. 

(1) Notwithstanding anything else in this section, the city may deny an application for 
an urban lot split if the building official makes a written finding, based on a 
preponderance of the evidence, that the project would have a “specific, adverse 
impact” on either public health and safety or on the physical environment and for 
which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific 
adverse impact.

(2) “Specific adverse impact” has the same meaning as in Gov. Code 
§ 65589.5(d)(2): “a significant, quantifiable, direct, and unavoidable impact, 
based on objective, identified written public health or safety standards, policies, or 
conditions as they existed on the date the application was deemed complete” and 
does not include (1) inconsistency with the zoning ordinance or general plan land 
use designation or (2) the eligibility to claim a welfare exemption under Revenue 
and Taxation Code section 214(g).

(3) The building official may consult with and be assisted by planning staff and 
others as necessary in making a finding of specific, adverse impact. 

(c) Remedies. If an urban lot split project violates any part of this code or any other legal 
requirement: 

(1) The buyer, grantee, or lessee of any part of the property has an action for damages 
or to void the deed, sale, or contract.

(2) The city may:

77



93939.00053\34479184.3

(A) Bring an action to enjoin any attempt to sell, lease, or finance the property.

(B) Bring an action for other legal, equitable, or summary remedy, such as 
declaratory and injunctive relief.

(C) Pursue criminal prosecution, punishable by imprisonment in county jail or 
state prison for up to one year, by a fine of up to $10,000, or both; or a 
misdemeanor.

(D) Record a notice of violation.

(E) Withhold any or all future permits and approvals.

(F) Pursue all other administrative, legal, or equitable remedies that are 
allowed by law or the city’s code.

Section 2. Title 17 (Land Use) of the City of Rolling Hills Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
add Chapter 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects) to read as follows:

CHAPTER 17.45 (SB 9 TWO-UNIT PROJECTS)

17.45.010 Purpose

The purpose of this section is to allow and appropriately regulate two-unit projects in accordance 
with Government Code section 65852.21.

17.45.020 Definition

A “two-unit project” means the development of two primary dwelling units or, if there is already 
a primary dwelling unit on the lot, the development of a second primary dwelling unit on a 
legally subdivided lot in accordance with the requirements of this section.

17.45.030 Application

(1) Only individual property owners may apply for a two-unit project. “Individual 
property owner” means a natural person holding fee title individually or jointly in 
the person’s own name or a beneficiary of a trust that holds fee title. “Individual 
property owner” does not include any corporation or corporate person of any kind
(partnership, LP, LLC, C corp, S corp, etc.) except for a community land trust (as 
defined by Rev. & Tax Code § 402.1(a)(11)(C)(ii)) or a qualified nonprofit 
corporation (as defined by Rev. & Tax Code § 214.15).

(2) An application for a two-unit project must be submitted on the city’s approved 
form. The application must include, but not be limited to, the following: a 
certificate of compliance with the Subdivision Map Act for the lot; a certificate of 
compliance with all applicable fire-hazard mitigation measures in accordance 
with this Chapter; a survey from a qualified biologist showing that there are no 

78



93939.00053\34479184.3

protected species on site; and an affidavit certifying compliance with all 
requirements of this Chapter. 

(3) Only a complete application will be considered. The city will inform the applicant 
in writing of any incompleteness within 30 days after the application is submitted.

(4) The city may establish a fee to recover its costs for adopting, implementing, and 
enforcing this section of the code, in accordance with applicable law. The city 
council may establish and change the fee by resolution. The fee must be paid with 
the application.

17.45.040 Approval

(1) An application for a two-unit project is approved or denied ministerially, by the 
planning director or his or her designee, without discretionary review.

(2) The ministerial approval of a two-unit project does not take effect until the city 
has confirmed that the required documents have been recorded, such as the deed 
restriction and easements.

(3) The approval must require the owner and applicant to hold the city harmless from 
all claims and damages related to the approval and its subject matter.

(4) The approval must require the owner and applicant to reimburse the city for all 
costs of enforcement, including attorneys’ fees and costs associated with 
enforcing the requirements of this code. 

17.45.050 Requirements

(a) A two-unit project must satisfy each of the following requirements:

(1) Map Act Compliance. The lot must have been legally subdivided.

(2) Zone. The lot is in a single-family residential zone. 

(3) Lot Location. The lot is not located on a site that is any of the following:

(A) Either prime farmland or farmland of statewide importance, as defined 
pursuant to United States Department of Agriculture land inventory and 
monitoring criteria, as modified for California, and designated on the maps 
prepared by the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 
Department of Conservation, or land zoned or designated for agricultural 
protection or preservation by a local ballot measure that was approved by 
the voters of that jurisdiction.

(B) Wetlands, as defined in the United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
Manual, Part 660 FW 2 (June 21, 1993).

79



93939.00053\34479184.3

(C) Within a very high fire hazard severity zone, as determined by the 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection pursuant to Section 51178 of 
the Government Code, or within a high or very high fire hazard severity 
zone as indicated on maps adopted by the Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection pursuant to Section 4202 of the Public Resources Code. This 
subparagraph does not apply to sites excluded from the specified hazard 
zones by a local agency, pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 51179 of 
the Government Code, or sites that have adopted fire hazard mitigation 
measures pursuant to existing building standards or state fire mitigation 
measures applicable to the development.

(D) A hazardous waste site that is listed pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
Government Code or a hazardous waste site designated by the Department 
of Toxic Substances Control pursuant to Section 25356 of the Health and 
Safety Code, unless the Department of Toxic Substances Control has 
cleared the site for residential use or residential mixed uses.

(E) Within a delineated earthquake fault zone as determined by the State 
Geologist in any official maps published by the State Geologist, unless the 
development complies with applicable seismic protection building code 
standards adopted by the California Building Standards Commission under 
the California Building Standards Law (Part 2.5 (commencing with 
Section 18901) of Division 13 of the Health and Safety Code), and by any 
local building department under Chapter 12.2 (commencing with Section 
8875) of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(F) Within a flood plain as determined by maps promulgated by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, unless the development has been issued 
a flood plain development permit pursuant to Part 59 (commencing with 
Section 59.1) and Part 60 (commencing with Section 60.1) of Subchapter 
B of Chapter I of Title 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(G) Within a floodway as determined by maps promulgated by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, unless the development has received a 
no-rise certification in accordance with Section 60.3(d)(3) of Title 44 of 
the Code of Federal Regulations.

(H) Lands identified for conservation in an adopted natural community 
conservation plan pursuant to the Natural Community Conservation 
Planning Act (Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 2800) of Division 3 
of the Fish and Game Code), habitat conservation plan pursuant to the 
federal Endangered Species Act of 1973 (16 U.S.C. Sec. 1531 et seq.), or 
other adopted natural resource protection plan.

(I) Habitat for protected species identified as candidate, sensitive, or species 
of special status by state or federal agencies, fully protected species, or 
species protected by the federal Endangered Species Act of 1973 (16 

80



93939.00053\34479184.3

U.S.C. Sec. 1531 et seq.), the California Endangered Species Act (Chapter 
1.5 (commencing with Section 2050) of Division 3 of the Fish and Game 
Code), or the Native Plant Protection Act (Chapter 10 (commencing with 
Section 1900) of Division 2 of the Fish and Game Code).

(J) Lands under conservation easement.

(4) Not Historic. The lot must not be a historic property or within a historic district 
that is included on the State Historic Resources Inventory. Nor may the lot be or 
be within a site that is designated by ordinance as a city or county landmark or as 
a historic property or district.

(5) No Impact on Protected Housing. The two-unit project must not require or 
include the demolition or alteration of any of the following types of housing:

(A) Housing that is income-restricted for households of moderate, low, or very 
low income.

(B) Housing that is subject to any form of rent or price control through a 
public entity’s valid exercise of its police power.

(C) Housing, or a lot that used to have housing, that has been withdrawn from 
rental or lease under the Ellis Act (Gov. Code §§ 7060–7060.7) at any 
time in the 15 years prior to submission of the urban lot split application.

(D) Housing that has been occupied by a tenant in the last three years. 
Optional: The applicant and the owner of a property for which a two-unit 
project is sought must provide a sworn statement as to this fact with the 
application for the parcel map. The city may conduct its own inquiries and 
investigation to ascertain the veracity of the sworn statement, including 
but not limited to, surveying owners of nearby properties; and the city may 
require additional evidence of the applicant and owner as necessary to 
determine compliance with this requirement.

(6) Unit Standards.

(A) Quantity. 

(i) No more than two dwelling units of any kind may be built on a lot 
that results from an urban lot split. For purposes of this paragraph, 
“unit” means any dwelling unit, including, but not limited to, a 
primary dwelling unit, a unit created under this section of this 
code, an ADU, or a JADU.

(ii) A lot that is not created by an urban lot split may have a two-unit 
project under this section, plus any ADU or JADU that must be 
allowed under state law and the city’s ADU ordinance. 

81



93939.00053\34479184.3

(B) Unit Size. 

(i) The total floor area of each primary dwelling built that is 
developed under this section must be 

(I) less than or equal to 800 and 

(II) more than 500 square feet.

(ii) A primary dwelling that was legally established on the lot prior to 
the two-unit project and that is larger than 800 square feet is 
limited to the lawful floor area at the time of the two-unit project. 
The unit may not be expanded.

(iii) A primary dwelling that was legally established prior to the two-
unit project and that is smaller than 800 square feet may be 
expanded to 800 square feet after or as part of the two-unit project.

(C) Height Restrictions. 

(i) No new primary dwelling unit may exceed a single story or 16 feet 
in height, measured from grade to peak of the structure.

(ii) No rooftop deck is permitted on any new or remodeled dwelling or 
structure on a lot resulting from an urban lot split.

(D) Demo Cap. The two-unit project may not involve the demolition of more 
than 25 percent of the existing exterior walls of an existing dwelling 
unless the site has not been occupied by a tenant in the last three years.

(E) Lot Coverage. All structures as defined in Section 17.16.070 on a lot shall 
not cover more than twenty percent of the net lot area. All structures and 
all other impervious surfaces as defined in Section 17.16.070 on a lot shall 
not cover more than thirty-five percent of the net lot area. This lot 
coverage standard is only enforced to the extent that it does not prevent 
two primary dwelling units on the lot at 800 square feet each.

(F) Open Space. No development pursuant to this Chapter may cause the total 
percentage of open space of the lot fall below fifty percent. This open 
space standard is only enforced to the extent that it does not prevent two 
primary dwelling units on the lot at 800 square feet each.

(G) Setbacks.

(i) Generally. All setbacks must conform to those objective setbacks 
that are imposed through the underlying zone. 

(ii) Exceptions. Notwithstanding subpart (a)(6)(G) above:

82



93939.00053\34479184.3

(I) Existing Structures. No setback is required for an existing 
legally established structure or for a new structure that is 
constructed in the same location and to the same 
dimensions as an existing legally established structure.

(II) 800 sf; four-foot side and rear. The setbacks imposed by 
the underlying zone must yield to the degree necessary to 
avoid physically precluding the construction of up to two 
units on the lot or either of the two units from being at least 
800 square feet in floor area; but in no event may any 
structure be less than four feet from a side or rear property 
line. 

(iii) Front Setback Area. Notwithstanding any other part of this code, 
dwellings that are constructed under this section must be at least 30 
feet from the front property lines. The front setback area must:

(I) be kept free from all structures greater than three feet high;

(II) be at least 50 percent landscaped with drought-tolerant 
plants, with vegetation and irrigation plans approved by a 
licensed landscape architect;

(III) allow for vehicular and fire-safety access.

(H) Parking. Each new primary dwelling unit must have at least one off-street 
parking space per unit unless one of the following applies:

(i) The lot is located within one-half mile walking distance of either 

(I) a corridor with fixed route bus service with service 
intervals no longer than 15 minutes during peak commute 
hours or 

(II) a site that contains 

(ia) an existing rail or bus rapid transit station, 

(ib) a ferry terminal served by either a bus or rail transit 
service, or 

(ic) the intersection of two or more major bus routes 
with a frequency of service interval of 15 minutes 
or less during the morning and afternoon peak 
commute periods.

(ii) The site is located within one block of a car-share vehicle location. 

83



93939.00053\34479184.3

(I) Architecture.

(i) Architecture is limited to white California ranch style homes 
rambling in character (“U” shaped footprint) with low profile 
silhouette (50% of building must have exterior wall height of 8’6”) 
and exterior three-rail fences. Examples of allowed architecture are 
as follows:

(I) Traditional Ranch

(ia) Hip, gable, or Dutch gable roof design

(ib) Medium roof pitch (3.5:12 minimum to 5:12 
maximum roof pitch) 

(II) Contemporary Ranch

(ia) Hip or gable roof design

(ib) 3:12 minimum roof pitch

(III) Early California Rancho

(ia) Gable roof design

(ib) 3:12 minimum roof pitch and 4:12 maximum roof 
pitch

(ii) If there is a legal primary dwelling on the lot that was established 
before the two-unit project, any new primary dwelling unit must 
match the existing primary dwelling unit in exterior materials, 
color, and dominant roof pitch. The dominant roof slope is the 
slope shared by the largest portion of the roof.

(iii) If there is no legal primary dwelling on the lot before the two-unit 
project, and if two primary dwellings are developed on the lot, the 
dwellings must match each other in exterior materials, color, and 
dominant roof pitch. The dominant roof slope is the slope shared 
by the largest portion of the roof.

(iv) All exterior lighting must be limited to down-lights.

(v) No window or door of a dwelling that is constructed on the lot may 
have a direct line of sight to an adjoining residential property. 
Landscaping, or privacy glass may be used to provide screening 
and prevent a direct line of sight.

84



93939.00053\34479184.3

(vi) If any portion of a dwelling is less than 30 feet from a property line 
that is not a right-of-way line, then all windows and doors in that 
portion must either be (for windows) clerestory with the bottom of 
the glass at least six feet above the finished floor, or (for windows 
and for doors) utilize frosted or obscure glass.

(J) Landscaping. Evergreen landscape screening must be plated and 
maintained between each dwelling and adjacent lots (but not rights of 
way) as follows:

(i) At least one 15-gallon size plant shall be provided for every five 
linear feet of exterior wall. Alternatively, at least one 24” box size 
plant shall be provided for every ten linear feet of exterior wall.

(ii) Plant specimens must be at least eight feet tall when installed. As 
an alternative, a solid fence of at least eight feet in height may be 
installed.

(iii) All landscaping must be drought-tolerant.

(iv) All landscaping must be from the city’s approved plant list.

(K) Nonconforming Conditions. A two-unit project may only be approved if 
all nonconforming zoning conditions are corrected.

(L) Utilities.

(i) Each primary dwelling unit on the lot must have its own direct 
utility connection to the utility service provider.

(ii) Each primary dwelling unit must have its own separate direct 
utility connection to an onsite wastewater treatment system or 
sewer in accordance with this paragraph and the City’s code. Each 
primary dwelling unit on the lot that is or that is proposed to be 
connected to an onsite wastewater treatment system must first have 
a percolation test completed within the last five years or, if the 
percolation test has been recertified, within the last 10 years All 
utilities must be underground.

(iii) Each primary dwelling unit on the lot that is or that is proposed to 
be connected to an onsite wastewater treatment system must first 
have a percolation test completed within the last five years or, if 
the percolation test has been recertified, within the last 10 years.

(M) Building & Safety. All structures built on the lot must comply with all 
current local building standards. A project under this section is a change of 
use and subjects the whole of the lot, and all structures, to the city’s 
current code.

85



93939.00053\34479184.3

(7) Fire-Hazard Mitigation Measures. 

(A) A lot in a very high fire hazard severity zone must comply with each of 
the following fire-hazard mitigation measures:

(i) Water Sources

(I) Fire Hydrants

(ia) Public fire hydrants shall be spaced no more than 
600 feet (182.88 m) apart. For properties with more 
than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of lot 
frontage should be more than 360 feet away, via fire 
apparatus access, from a hydrant. For properties less 
than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of a fire 
apparatus access road shall be father than 600 feet 
away, via fire apparatus access, from a properly 
space hydrant that meets the required fire-flow. 

(ib) When any portion of a proposed structure exceeds 
the allowable distances from a public hydrant, via 
fire apparatus access, on-site hydrants shall be 
provided. The spacing distance between on-site 
hydrants shall be 300 to 400 feet (91.44 to 121.92 
m). All on-site fire hydrants shall have, at a 
minimum, a fire-flow of 1,250 gallons per minute 
(4,732 L/min) at 20 psi (137.895 kPa) for a duration 
of two hours. If more than one on-site fire hydrant 
is required, the fire flow shall be 2,500 gallons per 
minute (9,463.53 L/min) at 20 psi (137.895 kPa) for 
a duration of two hours. All on-site hydrants shall 
be installed a minimum of 25 feet (7,620 mm) from 
a structure or protected by a two-hour firewall.

(II) Sprinklers. All enclosed structures on site must have 
automatic sprinkler systems installed.

(ii) Access

(I) A lot must have direct access through its own paved 
driveway with a width of at least 30 feet connecting with 
direct access to a paved right of way or fire apparatus 
access road with a width of at least 40 feet, exclusive of 
shoulders. A lot must access such paved right of way or fire 
apparatus access road with at least two independent paved 
points of access for fire and life safety to access and for 
residents to evacuate. 

86



93939.00053\34479184.3

(II) No dwelling unit shall be within 30 feet of any other 
dwelling unit or any other enclosed structure on such lot.

(iii) All dwellings on the site must comply with current fire code 
requirements for dwellings in a very high fire hazard severity zone. 

(B) Prior to submitting an application for development under this Chapter, the 
applicant must obtain a certificate of compliance with all applicable fire-
hazard mitigation measures in accordance with this Chapter. The City or 
its authorized agent must inspect the site, including all structures on the 
site, and certify as to its compliance. The certificate must be included with 
the application. The applicant must pay the City’s costs for inspection. 
Failure to pay is grounds for denying the application. 

(8) Separate Conveyance. 

(A) Primary dwelling units on the lot may not be owned or conveyed 
separately from each other. 

(B) Condominium airspace divisions and common interest developments are 
not permitted within the lot.

(C) All fee interest in the lot and all the dwellings must be held equally and 
undivided by all individual property owners.

(D) No timeshare, as defined by state law or this code, is permitted. This 
includes any co-ownership arrangement that gives an owner the right to 
exclusive use of the property for a defined period or periods of time. 

(9) Regulation of Uses.

(A) Residential-only. No non-residential use is permitted on the lot.

(B) No STRs. No dwelling unit on the lot may be rented for a period of less 
than 30 days. 

(C) Owner Occupancy. Unless the lot was formed by an urban lot split, the 
individual property owners of a lot with a two-unit project must occupy 
one of the dwellings on the lot as the owners’ principal residence and legal 
domicile.

(10) Notice of Construction. 

(A) At least 30 business days before starting any construction of a two-unit 
project, the property owner must give written notice to all the owners of 
record of each of the adjacent residential parcels, which notice must 
include the following information:

87



93939.00053\34479184.3

(i) Notice that construction has been authorized,

(ii) The anticipated start and end dates for construction,

(iii) The hours of construction,

(iv) Contact information for the project manager (for construction-
related complaints), and

(v) Contact information for the Building & Safety Department.

(B) This notice requirement does not confer a right on the noticed persons or 
on anyone else to comment on the project before permits are issued.  
Approval is ministerial.  Under state law, the City has no discretion in 
approving or denying a particular project under this section.  This notice 
requirement is purely to promote neighborhood awareness and 
expectation.

(11) Deed Restriction. The owner must record a deed restriction, on a form approved 
by the City, that does each of the following:

(A) Expressly prohibits any rental of any dwelling on the property for a period 
of less than 30 days.

(B) Expressly prohibits any non-residential use of the lot.

(C) Expressly prohibits any separate conveyance of a primary dwelling on the 
property, any separate fee interest, and any common interest development 
within the lot.

(D) If the lot does not undergo an urban lot split: Expressly requires the 
individual property owners to live in one of the dwelling units on the lot as 
the owners’ primary residence and legal domicile. 

(E) Limits development of the lot to residential units that comply with the 
requirements of this section, except as required by state law.

(b) Specific Adverse Impacts. 

(1) Notwithstanding anything else in this section, the city may deny an application for 
a two-unit project if the building official makes a written finding, based on a 
preponderance of the evidence, that the project would have a “specific, adverse 
impact” on either public health and safety or on the physical environment and for 
which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific 
adverse impact.

(2) “Specific adverse impact” has the same meaning as in Gov. Code 
§ 65589.5(d)(2): “a significant, quantifiable, direct, and unavoidable impact, 

88



93939.00053\34479184.3

based on objective, identified written public health or safety standards, policies, or 
conditions as they existed on the date the application was deemed complete” and 
does not include (1) inconsistency with the zoning ordinance or general plan land 
use designation or (2) the eligibility to claim a welfare exemption under Revenue 
and Taxation Code section 214(g).

(3) The building official may consult with and be assisted by planning staff and 
others as necessary in making a finding of specific, adverse impact. 

(c) Remedies. If a two-unit project violates any part of this code or any other legal 
requirement: 

(1) The buyer, grantee, or lessee of any part of the property has an action for damages 
or to void the deed, sale, or contract.

(2) The city may:

(A) Bring an action to enjoin any attempt to sell, lease, or finance the property.

(B) Bring an action for other legal, equitable, or summary remedy, such as 
declaratory and injunctive relief.

(C) Pursue criminal prosecution, punishable by imprisonment in county jail or 
state prison for up to one year, by a fine of up to $10,000, or both; or a 
misdemeanor.

(D) Record a notice of violation.

(E) Withhold any or all future permits and approvals.

(F) Pursue all other administrative, legal, or equitable remedies that are 
allowed by law or the city’s code.

Section 3.  Chapter 15.20 (Fire Code) of Title 15 (Building and Construction) of the Rolling 
Hills Municipal Code is hereby amended as follows: 

15.20.010 – Adoption of Fire Code

Except as hereinafter provided in this chapter, Title 32 Fire Code of the Los Angeles County 
Codes, as amended and in effect on February 24, 2017January 1, 2020, which constitutes an 
amended version of the California Fire Code, 20162019 Edition and an amended version of the 
International Fire Code, 20152018 Edition is hereby adopted by reference and shall constitute and 
may be cited as the Fire Code of the City of Rolling Hills.

89



93939.00053\34479184.3

In the event of any conflict between provisions of the California Fire Code, 20162019Edition, Title 
32 of the Los Angeles County Code, or any amendment to the Fire Code contained in the Rolling 
Hills Municipal Code, the provision contained in the later listed document shall control.

A copy of Title 32 of the Los Angeles County Code, along with a copy of the California Fire Code, 
20162019 Edition has been deposited in the office of the City Clerk and shall be at all times 
maintained by the Clerk for use and examination by the public.

15.20.020 Short title.

This chapter shall be known as the "Fire Code of the City of Rolling Hills" and may be cited as 
such. 

15.20.025 Very high fire hazard severity zone (VHFHSZ).

The entire City of Rolling Hills is designated as a very high fire hazard severity zone, as 
prescribed by the Director of California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection and as 
designated on a map titled City of Rolling Hills VHFHSZ dated July 1, 2008 and which shall be 
retained on file in the City Clerk's office at the Rolling Hills City Hall. 

15.20.030 Permits.

Any permit heretofore issued by the County of Los Angeles pursuant to the Fire Code of said 
County, for work within the territorial boundaries of the City of Rolling Hills, shall remain in full 
force and effect according to its terms. 

15.20.040 Local Amendments.

The following provisions of the Los Angeles County Fire Code are hereby amended as follows:

1. Section C105.2 (One- and two-family dwellings, and Group R-2 buildings) is amended to 
read as follows:

Section C105.2 (One- and two-family dwellings, and Group R-2 buildings) 

A. For one- and two-family dwellings, and Group R-3 buildings, fire hydrants 
shall be spaced no more than 600 feet (182.88 m) apart. For properties with more 
than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of lot frontage should be more than 
450 feet (137.16 m) away, via fire apparatus access, from a public hydrant. For 
properties less than one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of a fire apparatus 
access roadway shall be farther than 750 feet (228.6 m) away, via fire apparatus 
access, from a properly spaced public hydrant that meets the required fire-flow.

B. Notwithstanding paragraph A above, for projects under Chapters 16.50 
(SB 9 Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects), fire hydrants shall 
be spaced no more than 600 feet (182.88 m) apart. For properties with more than 
one dwelling unit per acre, no portion of lot frontage should be more than 360 feet 
away, via fire apparatus access, from a hydrant. For properties less than one 

90



93939.00053\34479184.3

dwelling unit per acre, no portion of a fire apparatus access road shall be father 
than 600 feet away, via fire apparatus access, from a properly space hydrant that 
meets the required fire-flow. 

2. Section C106.1 (Required on-site hydrants) is set forth below without amendments for 
purposes of reference only:

C106.1 - Required on-site hydrants.

When any portion of a proposed structure exceeds the allowable distances from a public 
hydrant, via fire apparatus access, on-site hydrants shall be provided. The spacing 
distance between on-site hydrants shall be 300 to 400 feet (91.44 to 121.92 m). All on-
site fire hydrants shall have, at a minimum, a fire-flow of 1,250 gallons per minute (4,732 
L/min) at 20 psi (137.895 kPa) for a duration of two hours. If more than one on-site fire 
hydrant is required, the fire flow shall be 2,500 gallons per minute (9,463.53 L/min) at 20 
psi (137.895 kPa) for a duration of two hours. All on-site hydrants shall be installed a 
minimum of 25 feet (7,620 mm) from a structure or protected by a two-hour firewall.

Exception: For fully sprinklered multifamily residential structures, on-site hydrants may 
be installed a minimum of 10 feet (3.05 m) from the structure.

3. Section 503.1.1 (Buildings and facilities) is amended to read as follows:

503.1.1 - Buildings and facilities.

A. Approved fire apparatus access roads shall be provided for every facility, building 
or portion of a building hereafter constructed or moved into or within the 
jurisdiction. The fire apparatus access road shall comply with the requirements of 
this section and shall extend to within 150 feet (45,720 mm) of all portions of the 
facility and all portions of the exterior walls of the first story of the building as 
measured by an approved route around the exterior of the building or facility.

Exceptions:

1. The fire code official is authorized to increase the dimension of 150 feet 
(45,720 mm) where any of the following conditions occur:

1.1. The building is equipped throughout with an approved automatic 
sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2 
or 903.3.1.3.
1.2. Fire apparatus access roads cannot be installed because of location on 
property, topography, waterways, nonnegotiable grades or other similar 
conditions, and an approved alternative means of fire protection is 
provided.
1.3. There are not more than two Group R-3 or Group U occupancies.

2. Where approved by the fire code official, fire apparatus access roads shall be 
permitted to be exempted or modified for solar photovoltaic power generation 
facilities and a stand-alone battery energy storage structure.3.Exterior walls of 
interior courts that are enclosed on all sides.

91



93939.00053\34479184.3

B. Notwithstanding paragraph A above, for projects under Chapters 16.50 (SB 9 
Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects), a lot must have its own 
paved driveway with a width of at least 30 feet connecting with direct access to a 
paved right of way or fire apparatus access road with a width of at least 40 feet, 
exclusive of shoulders. No dwelling unit shall be within 30 feet of any other 
dwelling unit or any other enclosed structure on such lot.

4. Section 503.1.2 (Additional access) is amended to read as follows:

503.1.2 – Additional access.

A. The fire code official is authorized to require more than one fire apparatus access 
road based on the potential for impairment of a single road by vehicle congestion, 
condition of terrain, climatic conditions or other factors that could limit access.
Such additional access must also comply with Title 21 of the Los Angeles County 
Code.

B. Notwithstanding paragraph A above, for projects under Chapters 16.50 (SB 9 
Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects), a lot must access a paved 
right of way or fire apparatus access road with at least two independent paved 
points of access for fire and life safety to access and for residents to evacuate. 

5. Section 503.2.1 (Dimensions) is amended to read as follows:

Section 503.2.1 Dimensions 

A. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not less than 20 
feet (6,096 mm), exclusive of shoulders, except as specified in Sections 503.2.1.1 
through 503.2.1.2.2.2, and for approved security gates in accordance with Section 
503.6. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed vertical clearance 
clear to the sky. 

Exception: A minimum vertical clearance of 13 feet 6 inches (4,114.8 mm) may 
be allowed for protected tree species adjacent to access roads. Any applicable 
tree-trimming permit from the appropriate agency is required.

B. Notwithstanding paragraph A above, for projects under Chapters 16.50 (SB 9 
Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 Two-Unit Projects), a lot must have direct 
access through its own paved driveway with a width of at least 30 feet connecting 
with direct access to a paved right of way or fire apparatus access road with a 
width of at least 40 feet, exclusive of shoulders.

6. Section 903.3.1.3 (NFPA 13D sprinkler systems) is amended to read as follows:

Section 903.3.1.3 NFPA 13D sprinkler systems. 

A. Automatic sprinkler systems installed in one- and two family dwellings, Group R-
3, and townhouses shall be permitted to be installed throughout in accordance 
with NFPA 13D as amended in Chapter 35 

92



93939.00053\34479184.3

B. For all projects under Chapters 16.50 (SB 9 Urban Lot Splits) and 17.45 (SB 9 
Two-Unit Projects), all enclosed structures on site must have automatic sprinkler 
systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13D as amended in Chapter 35.

15.20.050 Violations.
Every person violating any provision of the Fire Code or of any permit or license granted 
hereunder, or any rule, regulation or policy promulgated pursuant hereto, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor unless such violation is declared to be an infraction by Section 5101.1 of the Fire 
Code. Each such violation is a separate offense for each and every day during any portion of 
which such violation is committed, continued or permitted, and conviction of any such violation 
shall be punishable by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars or by imprisonment in the 
County Jail for a period not to exceed six months, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

15.20.060 Responsibility.

Any person who personally or through another willfully, negligently, or in violation of law sets a 
fire, allows a fire to be set, or allows a fire kindled or attended by such person to escape from his 
or her control, allows any hazardous material to be handled, stored or transported in a manner not 
in accordance with nationally recognized standards, allows any hazardous material to escape 
from his or her control, neglects to properly comply with any written notice of the Chief, or 
willfully or negligently allows the continuation of a violation of the Fire Code and amendments 
thereto is liable for the expense of fighting the fire or for the expenses incurred during a 
hazardous materials incident, and such expense shall be a charge against that person. Such 
charge shall constitute a debt of such person and is collectible by the public agency incurring 
such expense in the same manner as in the case of an obligation under a contract, expressed or 
implied.

93


	PLANNING COMMISSION Agenda
	Item 6.A - Cover Page
	Item 6.A - 7-AB-361  teleconferences_ final (the actual bill).pdf
	Item 6.B - Cover Page
	Item 6.B - 2021-11-30 CTV Minutes.pdf
	Item 8.A - Cover Page
	Item 8.A - Resolution No. 2021-21-CTV.pdf
	Item 10.A - Cover Page
	Item 10.A - RH PC Resolution No. SB 9-c1.DOCX
	Item 10.A - 2021-11-30 RHCA Comments.pdf
	Item 10.A - SB-9_Letter_to_RH_City_11-24-21.pdf
	Item 10.A - Supplemental Exhibit A - SB9 Code Amendments_12.07.21.DOCX

